CITY OF CUPERTINO PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING APPROVED MINUTES

6:45 P.M. MAY 10, 2016 **TUESDAY** CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS

The regular Planning Commission meeting of May 10, 2016, was called to order at 6:45 p.m. in the Cupertino Council Chambers, 10350 Torre Avenue, Cupertino, CA. by Chairperson Takahashi.

SALUTE TO THE FLAG **ROLL CALL**

Commissioners Present: Alan Takahashi Chairperson:

> Vice Chairperson: Margaret Gong Commissioner: Winnie Lee Commissioner: Geoff Paulsen Commissioner: Don Sun

Staff Present: Assistant City Manager: Aarti Shrivastava

> Assistant Community Development Director: Beniamin Fu

> > Consulting Attorney: Colleen Winchester Senior Housing Planner: C. J. Valenzuela

Capital Improvements Program Manager: Katy Jensen

Director of Public Works: Timm Borden Senior Planner: Catarina Kidd

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: None

WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS: None

POSTPONEMENTS/REMOVAL FROM CALENDAR: None

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS: None **CONSENT CALENDAR:** None

PUBLIC HEARING

1. CP-2016-01 Review of Five Year Capital Improvement Program FY 2017-2021 (2016-2017 to 2020-2021) for conformity to the City's City of Cupertino

General Plan

Katy Jensen, Capital Improvements Program Manager, presented the staff report:

Reviewed the background of the Five Year Capital Improvement Program (CIP) for FY 2017-2021 for conformity to the city's General Plan. Each year the City Council adopts a five-year spending plan for capital improvements throughout the city. The CIP is critical because it prioritizes significant city expenditures on capital projects of importance to the city. The city appropriates funding for the first year of the CIP as part of the adoption of the budget for the next fiscal year. Funding is not committed for years 2 through 5 of the program, as project priorities may change and project schedules may accelerate or decelerate.

• The proposed capital budget for the fiscal year 2017 thru 2021 first year of the program is what is funded with the next budget cycle and is being presented for consideration of the conformance of the plan of the projects with the General Plan of the city. City Municipal Code Section 2.32.070C assigns the responsibility of the Planning Commission to review the city's capital improvement program for its conformance with the city's General Plan. The City annually submits the capital improvement for Planning Commission review. City's annual CIP lays out the projects over a five year period of which just the first year of funding is actually funded with the budget. A staff report is provided which summarizes the conformance of the projects with the General Plan to assist the review with conformance with the General Plan including the relevant Municipal Code Section. Staff recommends that you make a finding that the proposed Capital Improvement Program for the fiscal year 2017 through 2021 is consistent with the City's General Plan.

Com. Paulsen:

• Commended Ms. Jensen and Public Works Dept. for doing an excellent job overall; the city looks beautiful and some world class projects have been completed. Said his big concern as the founding member of the Bicycle/Pedestrian Commission, are the freeway onramps. They can be deadly and the onramps from Wolfe Rd. onto 280 especially can be very dangerous for cyclists, and could become more so with proposed improvements. The VTA Best Practices describe a way to redesign an onramp to make it more of a 90 degree angle, and it is complicated because it involves not only the city jurisdiction, but Caltrans and other jurisdictions. Said he would like to see a consideration for that put into the CIP process at some point; it is not in the Bike/Ped Plan. He said he wanted to emphasize in his opinion the deadliest feature in the city relative to bicycling.

Katy Jensen:

• The projects are prioritized based on several factors. There is a categorization criteria which includes things such as grant money, at risk, or ongoing project, safety issue, enhancement, that plays into the prioritization whether it is ranked as the top one. Not all transportation falls into the first category, but transportation, safety, grants tend to rise to the priority one category.

Com. Sun:

• Relative to the city traffic congestion did not see any project involved in DeAnza Stevens Creek, do they have any?

Katy Jensen:

• Said she was not familiar with all the details of the transportation projects; there are many projects fitting into a limited budget; they have been prioritized based on some level of urgency or funding available. Grants may also be available; it is part of a first effort of a larger plan that has been approved. The project may not necessarily be in the current list but may be in the future. The projects are solicited and pulled from input from the community, from the Council, from Commissions and staff that are offering programs and maintaining facilities. All come together to pull the project plan together. She said her role is not allocating the funds, but delivering the capital projects.

Com. Paulsen:

• Noted in the bike/ped plan that has yet to be translated into capital improvement projects, but there is a proposal relative to traffic on DeAnza Blvd. whether that will happen and when, is up to the final plan and the budget process but it is part of the draft bicycle transportation plan at this time. There was also a discussion about a Mary Ave. beautification plan; would that be part of a capital plan?

Timm Borden, Director of Public Works:

• Last year they proposed a Mary Avenue complete street project, looking at bringing curbs in, providing different bike facilities; that was not adopted in last year's capital improvement plan. It would have

also included doing work on the street while they were in there, putting fiber in. It would have been an efficient program, but was not approved in the budget.

Vice Chair Gong:

- Said she supported safety issues as a priority; and noted that resurfacing of the tennis courts was a Priority One. She asked why it was a Priority One. (*Response*) It is priority one because it is already underway; in the middle of construction presently.
- ADA is stretched over 5 years; If it is accelerated and done in 2.5 or 3 years, is there a cost savings? (*Response*) That is funding that is augmented other projects to help them address some accessibility issues, so they are not actually doing stand alone.
- Is the blacksmith shop the Forge not happening now? (*Response*) It has just begun; planned to start in the Spring of this year.
- The service center; there is a feasibility study to look at what needs to be done because it is ancient. There is also a project to bring fiber to the service center. Is it more cost effective to more inclusive to look at it as a whole project since we are looking at rebuilding it anyways. (*Response*) The fiber is being brought down the street; most of the work is offsite; it would be extending from the senior center. It is the end of the line for the fiber.

Chair Takahashi:

• Said procedurally, for him it would be committing to year one with four years of other projects; it would be interesting to see the past years' plans in terms of how many of these projects were in the extended period horizon from 3-4 years ago. Are we following, or are year 2 through 5 things that we just revise?

Timm Borden:

Many of them do get postponed for various reasons; we will put in things that may be dependent on
getting grant funding and that may not come to fruition so those may continue to push out, but many of
them do mature in the budget and they get built.

Com. Paulsen:

• Said as a former Parks and Rec Commission Chair he was pleased to see the Lawrence Mitty Park finally appearing on the radar screen of the CIPs; it has been a long road and complicated process both administratively and fiscally. It is going to be something in the caliber of the Stevens Creek Trail projects done before; looking forward to great things.

Com. Sun:

• Recalled when they discussed the Capital Improvement Program many residents complained about the muddy streets and poor road conditions around Monta Vista School and San Fernando. They tried to build sidewalks for the students to walk to school. What is the street situation there; what is update for the park and anything that can be done for the next budget year?

Timm Borden:

• Reviewed the projects worked on and completed in the Monta Vista area, including paving and repaving much of the Monta Vista area; the curb and gutter in its entirety; discussing plans to put in a continuous sidewalk, completing the sidewalk gaps on Pasadena which is one of the easier ones in the neighborhood; and return for Orange and Burn. Also completed a storm drain project on Orange and Burn; that was the first step to go in and improve the drainage situation; got through the winter successfully with less ponding; after finishing Pasadena we hope to use that as a model for going forward on Orange and Burn.

Vice Chair Gong:

• Said she read that the Governor is putting requirements in for permanent water reduction. Will the city wait to get those before starting several projects listed?

Timm Borden:

• Instituted on a more permanent basis what they did last year relative to the drought measures and conservation measures. Responded dramatically to those orders last year and cut back on a lot of irrigation and saved beyond the 30% which was the goal for water conservation savings. A lot of those things done were long term type improvements so hoping not all of the grass that went brown will go brown this year, and we will still be able to have that water conservation level. In the future we may see in some of the further years in the CIP we have turf reduction projects which will go into some of our parks and we are waiting for the Parks Master Plan to be complete and that is why we are not accelerating this. Going into some of our parks and keeping nice turf on our active areas where people need to go out and recreate; in areas that are not active putting in something else which is non-water intensive.

Com Lee:

• Relative to retaining walls, Regnart Road and Cordova are planned. Is there any input from the property owners on the replacement? It is completely the city's financial responsibility to replace them financially.

Timm Borden:

• Those are city walls; said he was not sure about the reconstruction of them, or if we have to have some cooperation with the adjacent property owners; don't think we have gotten that far into the design yet. It is possible we may need some assistance.

Chair Takahashi opened the public hearing.

Jennifer Griffin, Rancho Rinconada resident:

• Said she had reviewed the plan and was pleased in the eastern area to have the Lawrence Mitty Park which has been a dream for the area since the 1980s and it will be a magnificent addition to Cupertino. The eastern area is very under parked; there is a half-acre park Sterling Barnhart which is city purchased; it is well planned and is used continuously. Everyone is pleased the Lawrence Mitty Park has been secured; the neighborhood is very grateful. Said she was hopeful that there would be continued desire in Cupertino to purchase parkland.

Liang Chau, Cupertino resident:

• Said it was good to know they are taking steps to implement the policies set forth in the General Plan. However, the Capital Improvement Program is only for 5 years and they are only paying for the first year. Looking back in the General Plan, the EIR for the General Plan approved in December 2014 suggests to have a transportation impact fee implemented, and that has been put into the General Plan. It was adopted in December 2014 and has been almost 1-1/2 years; don't know if the city has any intention of implementing that with so many development projects. The transportation impact fee is very important because the EIR of the General Plan said that there are so many interceptions in Cupertino it already cannot mitigate; all we can do is improve the situation. Also, Cupertino is a city that doesn't have infrastructure as other cities such as Palo Alto, Milpitas, etc. do. Other similar sized cities do have infrastructure and have fees; they pay for library, senior centers, police and fire stations, other long term projects so they do a nexus study every year to find out what long term projects the city might need and plan ahead for that. Cupertino needs that type of capital improvement projects for 25 years because the General Plan is for 25 years. Where is our plan to enhance our infrastructure for the

next 25 years? With so many development projects coming up, we could have gotten the resource to pay for infrastructure thru transportation impact fee and traffic impact fee.

Chair Takahashi closed the public hearing.

Chair Takahashi:

• Asked staff to give status of transportation impact fee; how it is related to how it is written in the General Plan and where they are in that effort?

Timm Borden:

• Staff is moving forward with the traffic impact fee and will have an RFQ out looking for consultant to do that shortly; hope to have the fee in place within the next 6 months.

Chair Takahashi:

• How much thought given to infrastructure fees, from the city's perspective; there are fees for specific elements; vs. peanut butter infrastructure fee is that generally the approach the city takes?

Timm Borden:

• At this point, that policy has not been considered by the Council; and we have an infrastructure fee for storm drains; for parks; there is a park impact fee; those are the only two impact fees in place presently and there are no other facility fees at this time.

Com. Sun:

• For the infrastructure fees extended to match with General Plan, do we have agreement with developers or is that part of what we can allocate to the infrastructure fee; what is the relationship between these two?

Colleen Winchester, Asst. City Attorney:

A development agreement provides the city with a lot of latitude; that's where the developer offers
certain benefits and amenities, payments or sometimes construction of the facilities; it can be a broad
range, a package. Developers offer that voluntarily and it can become part of a binding and enforceable
agreement through a development agreement and that is how things can be sorted through separately.

Com. Sun:

• Asked if the city compares with other cities relative to the infrastructure impact fee; is it the way for Cupertino to go?

Colleen Winchester:

• That is not a legal issue; there are policy decisions to be made about what types of fees to charge and how. The determination of what types of fees are appropriate in certain circumstances is a delicate balance on what our fees cover, vs. what they don't cover; it is not just something people can just opine. It would depend on how that model compares to what the City of Cupertino has, how those elements line up, are there any gaps, it requires a more detailed analysis; whether or not to impose the fee is not a legal issue.

Chair Takahashi:

• Opened the discussion to comments from Commissioners about consistency of the General Plan, and any other element with regard to the Capital Improvement Program.

Timm Borden:

• Relative to what did not make it to priority one, he said staff was pleased with the list of projects that were prioritized this year. There wasn't a lot of weeding out of good projects; fortunate to have a healthy budget, working with our recreation community services, and our maintenance group in Public Works. Is very happy with list for projects moving forward.

Chair Takahashi:

- Said there is very strong alignment to the General Plan with regard to the proposed projects, specifically implementation of several elements of the pending approved bicycle transportation plan; a lot of those elements came from the prior transportation plan but they tended to be more "this would be a great thing to do" and really gaining traction on those projects was challenging most of the time, so to see a highly funded part of this going to that is great because it does align with interconnection promoting bicycle and pedestrian connectivity and safety; those are both elements that are key to trying to manage traffic and congestion. One of the projects specifically noted was a signal light on 280 and Foothill interchange and that is understandable why that light is being proposed. Said he would recommend that because it was a challenge to get done on the Bike/Ped Commission because that area is the intersection of Caltrans and Los Altos and Cupertino and there is a jurisdictional challenge with better striping on Foothill Blvd., specifically the southbound Foothill.
- Said his reason for bringing it up is because similar to the fatalities in Palo Alto on Page Mill Road and Alpine Road, and the level of bike traffic there, it is only a matter of time before there is a bad accident there; and not doing something in terms of striping and controlling that would be negligent. It is terrific that they are able to fund these projects and fully support the alignment with the General Plan.

Com. Sun:

- The job of the Planning Commissioners is to review whether the budget fits with the General Plan; said that he did not think there was anything they could identify with the General Plan. In the future, it is hoped for the City Council, Planning Commission or Public Works Department if there is a similar situation they would like to see what was done before and what is the criteria to measure whether they are successful with the budget. They do not have a clear picture of how efficiently they spend taxpayers' money.
- Relative to public input and when the Capital Improvement Program is done he said he would like to hear from the neighborhood and get feedback from the public. Said he was concerned for the Monta Vista area; it is on the east side of the city, and there was some street light issues not addressed; at night time it is very dark. Would like to address those kinds of issues, but in general find no issues or anything wrong with the Capital Improvement Program.

MOTION: Motion by Vice Chair Gong, second by Com. Sun, and unanimously carried 5-0-0 to adopt the draft resolution application No. CP-2016-01.

2. ASA-2015-13, DA-2015-01, DP-2015-04, TR-2015-21, U-2015-05, (EA-2015-03) Carlene Matchniff The Irvine Company 19500 Pruneridge Ave. Architectural and Site Approval for demolition of a 342 unit apartment complex (The Hamptons) and the construction of a new 942 unit apartment development on the same site with associated site and landscaping improvements, Development Agreement for a new 942 apartment unit developments in a Planned Residential Zoning District, Development Permit to Allow the demolition of a 342 unit apartment complex. (The Hamptons) and the construction of a 942 unit apartment complex in a Planned Residential Zoning District, Tree Removal permit to allow removal and replacement of 277 trees in conjunction with the

construction of a new apartment development, Use Permit to allow a separate bar facility within a clubhouse located in a 942 unit apartment development.

Catarina Kidd, Senior Planner, presented the staff report:

- Reviewed the application for redevelopment of the Hamptons Apartments with associated amenities and landscaping, located at 19500 Pruneridge Ave., northeast of Wolfe Road and I-280, as outlined in the staff report. The proposal is to demolish an existing 342 unit apartment complex and construct a new 942 unit apartment complex in a Planned Residential Zoning District. She reviewed the General Plan and Zoning, Housing Element, Site Plan, Architecture which is detailed in the staff report. The proposed residential complex consists of 6 buildings and approximately 32,000 sq. ft. of associated recreation and amenity areas such as a bicycle hub, pool areas, restrooms, juice bar, clubhouse and 3 levels of parking. The elements for the project also include a recycled water line from Wolfe Road and would continue from the north to the project site and be used to irrigate the landscape for the site in general. The exception are the trees which are being preserved along the property lines; redwood trees would require potable water; however, the remainder of the site would be amenable to recycled water.
- The architecture is a design concept that is looking to be compatible with the landscape around it; hence the landscape between each dwelling and the preservation of the redwood trees along the perimeter which would provide screening, visual relief for the height of the buildings. The project incorporated recommendations of the city's consulting architect to increase the quality of the design elements and included those discussed earlier such as pedestrian and bicycle sense of arrival and linking this site to the sites around it. She discussed landscape and tree removal as outlined in the staff report. There will be a landscape buffer zone around the site that includes existing trees but also new landscaping as well as the observation of the setback which is the 50 foot setback required from the arterials to the building plane, a 60 foot height limit and also a landscape buffer around the entire site between the tallest portion of the buildings being placed at the center of the site. Relative to tree removal, as a result of redevelopment of the site, there will be a proposed removal request for 276 trees at the center of the site. A great deal of effort was made to preserve the perimeter trees but also to transport any of the candidates on site. The majority of the species are not protected by the Municipal Code in terms of species but they are protected because they are approved development trees, as part of the original approval and replacement plantings are required.
- Transportation/parking was reviewed as outlined in the staff report. The Municipal Code requires 2 parking spaces per unit; the project proposes 1.8 spaces per unit (1696 spaces for 924 units). The application is providing alternative transportation measures, promoting pedestrian oriented or bicycle oriented uses and that in combination with the location of the site it provides additional findings to support that request.
- She noted a correction in the development agreement. In the staff report the list of Items 1 through 9 listed as voluntary contributions beyond required fees and the correction is Items 1 through 5 are considered the voluntary contributions; Items 6, 7, 8 and 9 are either required elements that would be separate agreement such as the affordable housing agreement or condition of approval which would apply to Item 9, the Transportation Demand Program, and that would be required based on General Plan Policy.
- Staff recommends these additional transportation demand contents which is fair share contributions for the Transportation Management Association when formed. The applicant would provide VTA eco passes to residents who have one or no cars per residential unit.
- Staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend that the City Council approve the five applications; next steps will be that the Commission's recommendations would be forwarded to the City Council for action. Staff would amend the resolutions.

Staff answered Commissioners' questions about the application.

Com. Sun:

- First question relates to traffic for Hampton apartment residents in and out; I didn't see very clearly for the pedestrian/bike and cars how they access to the Wolfe Road there and other exits; I want to have a more clear picture and also it is in the General Plan we have traffic impact analysis but on the proposal here, it is not finalized yet. For us to consider the traffic impact we want to get a clearer picture and how this 600 extra units generate what kind of traffic impact before we can make some final decisions.
- The second question regarding the unit, the BMR housing is 34 units; does the owner or applicant have any intention to increase the number of BMR units; if we see the units next to Apple, and the structure of the housing unit is a studio, 1 bedroom, 2 bedroom, that looks like it will only supply Apple employees and at least I think we can consider some citywide residences, the young people and other public servants, they are a mix of the residents. Can the city answer or the applicant answer.
- The third question relates to parking. The city code requires 2 cars per unit and we have 1.8. If we approve this one, is it going to be the exception or whatever the city recommends to, not mandate.

Catarina Kidd:

- Relative to the Wolfe Road access as far as pedestrians and bikes, there are sidewalks around the entire development; they will have to restripe Wolfe Road for bikes and peds; some of that work will be done in conjunction with some of the improvements Apple has done further north and Irvine Company would pick up those improvements where they left off including striping and the pedestrian crosswalks and so forth, so there is some work that needs to be done on Wolfe Road; it is a condition of approval. The traffic impact analysis in the Initial Study is final. What was brought up in report was regarding the traffic impact fee and that was brought up as stated in the last item as well that the nexus study was in progress. The applicant is aware that they are subject to that fee, just because that nexus study is not complete, does not mean they are not subject to it because the project is tiering from the General Plan EIR and the mitigation measures set out in that broader program apply to all new projects coming forward. She clarified that the traffic impact analysis is complete and is part of the technical appendices in the Initial Study. The traffic engineer and team are available tonight if there are more questions. Regarding the 34 units for the BMR, the applicant can answer that question as well; presently on the table is the 34 units will continue their term first carried out in the late 90s; there are about 12 years left on those units. Staff would agree with your comments that anything we can do to strengthen that is positive and the right thing to do.
- The applicant would have to make more comments about that but they are making some commitments regarding maintaining and continuing those units. As far as parking, it is not an exception per se, this is a planned unit development for residential; so the muni code and General Plan talks about these types of areas having a unified plan that works for the development with some flexibility and things like setbacks, and they are not asking for setback flexibilities but the parking exception, it is not really an exception per se, it would be a flex item. It is actually more parking than the existing Hamptons; it was approved at 1.76 and the development across the street was approved at less, at 1.8 as well. There have been other developments that have been approved at less than 2 per unit, but the question we always have on the table is not necessarily about precedence, but what works. If the study shows it is not working, then we as staff would have a problem with it; in this case the studies are supporting that finding that it's working and it fits this kind of development. It wouldn't be a precedent.

Chair Takahashi:

• Only question on parking and 1.8 not concerned about capacity; the spaces are small, that might be something residents might be concerned about; there are some tandem spaces; looks like there is only one way in and one way out of the main garage. When applicant speaks, would like to discuss what has been looked at in terms of potential hazards and risks associated with that many spaces having one way in and one way out. The other element in the parking, now there is a proposal for 40 EV chargers; I think that should be double at a minimum but we can talk about that in closing comments. The transportation mitigation; given that here they are applying and there is no plan yet, there is an unknown

dollar figure that if you are a developer that is a risk you can't deal with, how does the city plan on dealing with an unknown dollar, and ask the applicant what their thinking is on this as well.

Catarina Kidd:

• The access to the site is on Pruneridge and that was thought out between staff and the applicant. The project went to review with Public Works and Fire Dept., there was a strong recommendation against having vehicular access other than for EVA or service on Wolfe. Pruneridge on the interior point is where there is access in and out; it follows the existing pattern and also is in line with requirements from Fire and Public Works as well as Transportation Study is what is the safest way to get in and out of the site. We did want that corner to be a lot more pedestrian oriented and the access for vehicles to be placed was very strategic as well so following the patterns that are there is one piece of that puzzle.

John Jenkins, Irvine Company:

- Presented drawings and discussed the Hamptons redevelopment project in detail, including amenity space with café seating providing the opportunity to sit and relax or read a book or visit with a friend. There will be a pedestrian bicycle connection for residents who work across the street. Around the perimeter of the site there will be a perimeter amenity trail with active and passive programming for the residents and at each of the access points there will be a lobby space coming down from the building allowing people to venture in and out of the building, bring their bikes in and out; and a bicycle storage and repair station for people to tune up their bikes or get air in their tires before they go out for a ride. It promotes connectivity with the street and gets people out of the building and out on their bikes. Along the trail they are looking to introduce some amenities including an outdoor gym, children's playground and a dog park. It is an opportunity to provide amenities that cater to a wide range of demographics from toddler age to teens, adults and seniors. The amenity spaces provided will appeal to a wide range of residents. The landscape concept is focused around three big ideas including a screen around the perimeter where native plants are introduced and we preserve the 70 ft. redwoods that exist along the perimeter which provide a rich buffer to the street. The heart of the project is an elevated amenity deck, called linear park which features resident pools, informal and formal spaces, active and passive amenity spaces and portals. They are committed to LEAD gold certification or equivalent in this community.
- The architect and landscape architect showed a video presentation of their vision for the Hamptons project. Models of the project were also available for viewing. There was a short break in the meeting to allow the Commission and audience to view the models of the project.

Com. Sun:

Questions to city staff and I would like to ask applicants about the BMR housing; what is the option
you have and what is the basic tendency of whether you have any intention for increase to benefit some
local residents.

Carlene Matchniff, Irvine Company:

• When we began this project we understood that the city was about to adopt the housing impact fee of \$25 per sq. ft. which we are paying on the 600 new units, about \$12.9 million. We also agreed to continue the original 34 BMR units which are low and very low in the Hamptons when it reopens, and also agreed to a BMR location program for the tenants so they will be taken care of and can move off property and then have the ability to return should they desire to return, or have other options if they chose not to return to the Hamptons.

Com. Sun:

• For the BMR, the other benefit whether it is relocation or not, not concerned about that; thinking whether the applicant is considering the proportional increase the BMR unit, instead of 34, the increase of the 600 units; is there any chance to increase the BMR proportion?

Carlene Matchniff:

• What they are looking at and studying is the opportunity to extend the timeframe because there are 12 years left on the original agreement; they are looking at extending that back to where it started with the 30 year commitment; have not finished the analysis yet. That is an option; as far as increasing, the economics of this project are very tight, given all of the community benefit package mentioned earlier and all of the fees, demolishing the 342 units in place and given the number of units given in the housing element and when started, asked for 750 units and got 600; economically are not able to increase the number of units but are studying the extension of years on those units. The housing fee is estimated to be \$12.9 million.

Chair Takahashi:

• How are those funds utilized with regard to BMR units?

C.J. Valenzuela, Senior Housing Planner, City of Cupertino:

• Annually the RFP is published and goes out not only to the local developers and non-profit agencies and public service agencies in Santa Clara County, but more outside the area, over 500 organizations. What has been done in the past is substantial acquisition, rehab, development loans, fair housing, tenant landlord services, it's a combination of things. Explained the process in place to be able to inquire to agencies to be able to apply, goes to the Housing Commission who does an initial rating and ranking and those recommendations are forwarded to City Council. Every year they spend money out of the BMR housing fund. The balance has been growing; other opportunities for the future could be looked at; acquisition of existing properties such as under-utilized properties such as apartment complexes, smaller scale apartment complexes for low income housing tax credit projects; we have recently got more funding. That fund has been carrying a low balance for some time; recently adopted updated housing mitigation fees last year which didn't go into effect until July; this would be one of the first projects that would pay the new level \$25 per sq. ft. in this particular scenario; prior to that it was at \$3 per sq. ft.

Chair Takahashi:

• From your perspective, which is a better trade because asking them to increase their BMR units and pay this fee does seem unreasonable, from a trade perspective and increasing units more quickly without having as much variability with regard to sites that are for sale, would it be possible to take some of this \$12.9 million reduce that requirement, and add more BMR units?

C. J. Valenzuela:

• The priority is getting more BMR units which is the intent of the program. The environment changed due to the state cost of the Hawkins Act and the famous court case Palmer vs. City of Los Angeles in 2009; the dissolution of the Redevelopment Agencies in 2011 changed the whole wave of California affordable housing; getting the units is a priority; coming up with the methodology that would say Irvine Company if you provide a very low income unit or a low income unit, it would equate to a reduction of your fee by X or Y, that would require an additional analysis by staff, maybe consultant working with Irvine Co., but that could definitely be something considered. Recently a nexus study was done as part of the fee update which does have some level of analysis; there could be a methodology that could come up to say lower fee to the Irvine Company for more BMR units to the city, and that could be something looked at.

Chair Takahashi:

• It seems like a natural extension; an inventory of units becoming available and then trying to make some level of commitment to increasing that by decreasing the financial requirement such that the development still makes sense.

Com. Paulsen:

• Along those lines, it seems that these are pretty high end apartments; would it make more sense in your mind to take the money and rehab a lower sort of grade unit than to ask Irvine to spend part of their mitigation fee on a unit in their own development?

C. J. Valenzuela:

• Once again the priority would be to get the units from the Irvine Company under this proposal. It is much harder especially without having a site identified in Cupertino; we have experienced in the recent past that even when a developer is willing to come in at full market price of what the seller is asking for, staff has been working with the development community on trying to acquire sites. Getting units within this development as many BMR units as possible, if we can come up with the methodology and we come to agreement, it would be ideal scenario, rather than give us money or trying to find a site.

Vice Chair Gong:

• You mentioned that you were doing an analysis of whether to extend the 12 year to the original 30 year; what does that analysis look like? Do you have a consultant? What are the other elements in addition to the financial ramifications?

Carlene Matchniff:

• The internal financial department is looking at that; they have to determine what that does to the economics of the project.

Vice Chair Gong:

• Said a staff member presented a very interesting compromise; asked if the Irvine Company would be open to exploring that?

Carlene Matchniff:

• I think we would need to look at that; the options are there. Perhaps if the city had a site they were considering, we could assist with taking the \$12.9 million and helping to create more units off site if there was an opportunity where we could work together with the city on that. If there was a site already available or some apartment units we could rehab, we would be open to working with the city on something that applies our fees so that you can real units sooner. We haven't looked at what you would be able to get onsite with that money. This is a new concept tonight, so we haven't studied that. We could look at that but would want that not to hold up your approval or action tonight.

Vice Chair Gong:

• How far along is your analysis on the 12 years vs. 30 years; are we at final stage?

Carlene Matchniff:

Said they were close to a decision and by the time it goes to Council they can present these options; if
they wanted to consider a couple of alternatives, they could present those to Council with Commission's
suggestion.

Com. Paulsen:

• Said he preferred some type of architectural feature along the top edge, such as a parapet, eave or roofline, and was told that this was modeled after a newer style in London. Although not his preference

he said he was not going to vote against it, but asked for input on its blockiness. The Cupertino Inn is an example of architecture that is going to be remodeled and looks a little unfinished to some people.

John Jenkins:

• Said they develop properties in a wide range of architectural styles and a lot of it is driven by context, and they felt that in this particular location given the context the contemporary nature of the monumental building that was adjacent to it, they wanted to develop an idea that would be complimentary but not compete. Rather than doing something that was large and monumental, it was broken down into a human village-like scale; architecturally they felt that given the location and the views they wanted to maximize the amount of natural light into the unit's floor to ceiling glass, something that starts to feel like a loft apartment; those are very desirable both in the city and in other locations. That started to really drive the architecture. They were looking for something more contemporary and felt that was a better fit for the location.

Com. Paulsen:

• There is a trend these days for providing some kind of wild space for children to play in; a little wilderness experience on a postage stamp; has that been considered as part of the landscape plan at some place in the development?

John Jenkins:

• Said it hasn't been considered yet, but they want to create amenities that appeal to younger children in a variety of different ways and activate the senses and create much more engagement. Something like that could be appropriate given the natural surroundings and the ability to bring that into the site.

Com. Paulsen:

• Said this is the ideal project that Cupertino needs; it is unfortunate he believes that the General Plan restricted the number of housing units and they were not able to provide more housing across the street from the jobs. Said he was going to ask a question about public access around the back side, then Chair Takahashi mentioned his idea about a bicycle path connector from Tantau to Wolfe which is intriguing; whether it is built on the freeway side of the sound wall in conjunction with Caltrans protected by guardrail or whether the city purchases land from Apple and you put that in. It could be a very beneficial feature to both you and the city. It is not in any way part of our draft bicycle transportation plan, but perhaps you could talk with the city about having that be part of their plan. It could be built with city money, but it would be something that would be a very desirable feature especially since there are a lot of cyclists who bypass the clover leaves on Wolfe which are scary and dangerous.

John Jenkins:

• Said if that is something the city is interested in, there are conversations to be had with a number of property owners along that edge to see what could be done. We talked a little about public access around the perimeter and we and probably our neighbor would be a little concerned about the security of that and how do you protect people in safety and welfare. If there was a way to do that, that satisfied the city's needs and everyone's need for a safe place to bike.

Com. Paulsen:

• Said he did not think the serious commute cyclist would be opposed to riding on the freeway side of the sound wall if they are protected by a guard rail. It wouldn't be like a weekend recreational trail, it would be a serious connector.

Vice Chair Gong:

• Noted that there were no 3 bedroom apartments, yet there was mention of play areas for the children. Asked if there was segmentation of demographics in the master plan or adult only buildings or pools.

John Jenkins:

• Said they haven't considered segmenting buildings based upon demographics; they introduce a variety of uses with the amenity spaces that gives variety to the residents; one of the swim pools being more of a fitness/lap pool and the other being more like a resort use. They typically don't develop 3 bedroom units, there are families living in the 2 bedroom units and 2 bedroom plus den units. The younger families at a certain point will migrate out into a single family residence. Said they were contemplating a design for a shuttle bus along Pruneridge for pickup for shuttle bus or Uber bus. There is also an opportunity to explore a gated entrance for pedestrians and bikers. The promenade is a public space, we see someone being able to walk or bike through that space to connect to AC2 and we see that as an opportunity for creating some activities. The EVA also does connect to the EVA that runs along the southern edge of the Apple campus which has a gate for emergency vehicles.

Chair Takahashi opened the public hearing.

Heather Dean, Cupertino resident:

• Said she was surprised so much emphasis was being placed on use of bicycles in the Cupertino area. She noted that parents drive their children to school and other locations, and she did not see that many bikes on the streets and roads of Cupertino. Said she appreciated Com. Sun's concerns about BMR units, but sympathized with the senior residents in Cupertino who, if they sell their Cupertino homes, they will get a good price for them, but most cannot afford to purchase or rent a smaller unit in Cupertino because of the high prices. She urged the city to have more BMR units rather than places to plug in electric vehicles. She said she was not opposed to the proposed project but would object to anything more high rise.

Jennifer Griffin, Rancho Rinconada resident:

• The proposed redevelopment of the Hampton Apartments will be the largest apartment complex in Cupertino; it is 12 acres and has no park of its own; suggested providing an acre for the complex to have its own park beside the property. The redevelopment of the complex will bring in approximately 1,000 new residents to the city. Parking will be affected. (Speaker ran out of time to speak)

Liang Chao, Cupertino resident:

• Said she was pleased that Cupertino was getting more housing; however, it needed more housing for teachers. She asked if the applicant could give Cupertino teachers priority in the housing. She asked if the Municipal Code addressed common open space in the housing developments, and how much guest parking would be available in the proposed development. ABAG requirements are 1,064 for Cupertino in this housing cycle; it has different requirements for BMR housing for low income, medium income and Cupertino does not provide enough BMR housing. Said Hampton development is not providing BMR housing; Vallco is going to provide senior housing only because they want rents from senior citizens; Oaks is also going to provide senior housing instead of BMR units. Said she was pleased that the transportation impact fee will be implemented and will be part of the conditional permit. Asked if it was separate from the voluntary contribution provided for the Wolfe interchange.

Steve Scharf, Cupertino resident:

• Said 600 additional units and zero new BMR units was not acceptable; it should be proportional. Said he did not like the proposal that was suggested to rehabilitate some low end housing complex and put the BMR residents in them; that is not the concept of BMR. Said that the bicycle plan was nice, but he had 17 bikes in his garage and very few cyclists rode down Wolfe Road from south of I-280; they use other routes. He questioned how many cyclists would use Wolfe Rd. rather than the Hampton residents. Traffic would be negatively affected with 600 more housing units, adding approximately 3,000 more daily trips. Not providing 2 spaces per unit of parking is a mistake; currently there is so much retail

traffic parking on the residential streets and employees of Apple I park on the residential streets. Apple has been adamant about rejecting any multi-use trails through their property; other two bedroom units at the Biltmore and Montebello have many children residing in them.

Kevin McClelland, Cupertino Chamber of Commerce:

• This is one of those rare projects where the stars align with a great location, near the freeway, it is housing, there isn't an impact on the schools and it also near many amenities where people will be able to hopefully walk to work, shop and dine. The project is consistent with the General Plan requirements; it allows zoning use; additionally it is a priority housing element site in our housing element and the application has met the burden of proof to support their application and the Chamber urges the Commission to accept the staff's recommendation to move forward to the City Council.

Lisa Warren, Cupertino resident:

• Said she thought the applicant was willing to do more BMR units based on the number of increased units and was disappointed they were not. Said that she felt the parking should be considered, there is no room if they need more spaces. She said she would give them credit for having realistic visuals and she felt it should be a requirement for developers, including for single family homes. Also said she wanted story poles to be a requirement again; the R1 Ordinances and the requirements for building two story homes are not enough to present a good idea for what they really are. Said she wanted to have substantial renderings of two story homes, which the developer provided. Stated that she felt Sandhill Properties did not do that well.

Rattehalli Sudesh, Cupertino resident:

• Said he felt high density housing was important for Cupertino. The new development will create 1,000 units of housing, which will result in approximately 2,000 more cars in the area and most of the units will likely be occupied by young professional couples, probably not all with children and not biking in the already congested area. He said he is a surgeon at Kaiser Hospital and it was a dangerous area to bike and he and some of his colleagues have been almost killed riding down those roads. Most of the people will be driving cars and he felt that many of the residents would not be taking part in the community. The high density housing may be good, but not at that location in Cupertino.

Chair Takahashi closed the public hearing.

Vice Chair Gong:

• Said she was not an avid cyclist and asked why there was such a strong emphasis on cycling in the discussion of the proposed redevelopment.

Carlene Matchniff:

• Said they spent a lot of time working with the city staff and the outside architect that the city brought in, and analyzing the connectivity to the Apple campus and the pedestrian access as well as the bikeability because they do have bike parking all around the campus. They wanted to make sure they were offering that to reduce vehicle trips. The city really wanted to welcome the biking community and pedestrians into the promenade, and the intent over time was to see more of the bike hubs across the city start to develop so there could be a connectivity between bike hubs and get people more oriented to getting out of their cars and using more alternative modes of transportation. This is something generated with concepts internally with the city. Relative to the park space question raised, looking at their site they have developed a lot of open space and recreation within the plan itself; there is over 7-1/2 acres that comprise the 12.4 acre site and around 5 acres of built environment of the buildings themselves. There is a lot of open space and places for people to recreate on the plan itself. In addition they are paying \$12.9 million in park fees which can be used locally to enhance other parks or to purchase land. There are 103 guest spaces.

Com. Paulsen:

• One developer discussed how they were going to build large dropoff areas for Uber and Lift. Asked if they were planning on accommodating that kind of transportation?

Carlene Matchniff:

• Said they were planning on a shuttle stop, conveniently located at the entrance where they will have shuttles, Uber, and other transportation options.

Com. Paulsen:

• Relative to the bicycle path connectivity access, he said he applauded their bicycle orientation; and understood the comments about the danger of Wolfe Road; it is not an ideal place to build a bicycle friendly development, however, it is their land. Said he was ready to vote yes on the project, but would like to see more serious discussion and perhaps a decision made before they build their project and leave town, about bicycle connectivity and access, real solutions. He suggested they look at Hamburg Germany freeway park; and consider a solution; they should be able to come up with something that could be commensurate with the creativity of their project.

Com. Lee:

- One of the two sites they compared to was the Biltmore; there were many resident complaints about it, being under-parked and how residents had to park on Blaney. Why was Biltmore chosen as being an acceptable level of parking?
- How did Fehr and Peers come up with the ratio of 1.8?

Franziska Church, Engineer, Fehr and Peers Transportation Consultants:

• Said they weren't necessarily looking for sites that were acceptable for parking; just wanted to go to different multi-unit complexes in the City of Cupertino and survey those to see what the parking demand is; the intent wasn't to select ones that would be great, but to determine what the demand is for multi-use apartments within Cupertino; that is why Biltmore was one of the sites selected. The parking survey numbers shown do include the onstreet parking, when they did the parking surveys they were done in the middle of the night and actually counted the onstreet parking on Blaney as part of the Biltmore parking demand; that is included in the number in the table.

Aarti Shrivastava, Assistant City Manager:

• Said when they did the Biltmore project they wanted to make sure they were taking the worst case scenario and they were counting the cars even on the street; said what they were seeing there is the worst case scenario.

Catarina Kidd, AICP, Senior Planner:

• Remarked that the staff talked to the property managers as well, especially for those units that have designated garage enclosed spaces; one of the property management issues is that when folks sign a lease they agree to keep that garage as parking space and that is sometimes not enforced.

Franziska Church:

• Noted about residential parking; it is much easier to manage residential parking demand through different methodologies such as the unbundled parking that the Hamptons is proposing; then look at commercial developments such as The Oaks where there are different people coming in at different times for different reasons. With residential you have much more assigned parking; you know where people are going to park; that is much easier to manage than other types of parking scenarios.

Chair Takahashi:

• Said there were likely quite a few studies that show unbundled parking is more efficient than bundled parking; (Yes, when you have to consider the cost of parking you can weigh that option for yourself and make that decision. What does that parking fee look like or do you have a concept of what that value is? (Response: \$50 to \$75 per space for parking fee).

Com. Sun:

• Relative to traffic along Wolfe Rd. the apartment residents only exit is from Pruneridge and during the morning rush hours there with be a significant traffic jam with Apple employees' traffic. It will be very important for the cities to mitigate the public project along Wolfe Road and the adjacent area so it may have some impact on the traffic impact fees. He said this particular apartment complex would not be suitable for seniors but would better serve Apple employees, and he would encourage another developer to build a complex more suitable for senior citizens. He said his main concern was the BMR issue.

Vice Chair Gong:

• Said she agreed with Com. Sun on the BMR units. The parking issue and traffic flow will be worked out, it is for the residents. The BMR issue is vital in the city and residents are part of the community and city; BMR is teachers, people in our city that keep Cupertino strong, but can't afford to live here. Please continue with the analysis of the 34 BMR units for at least 30 years and hopefully that will be a positive outcome; if it is not proportional if it is not 90 units of BMR perhaps it is 60 units, doubling what is currently there but it is not unreasonable to ask for additional units for the community. She asked that they consider both the extension of the existing units as well as the increase; the staff member brought about a reasonable way of thinking about it; it is not a pay the fee and get more units - it is a let's work it out because we are together!

Aarti Shrivastava:

Said she felt the Planning Commission could have an additional recommendation to find a way to either
extend the existing units beyond the group proposal and work with staff to look for other ways to
increase units on the site in lieu of the fee. They can have that additional recommendation that they
can work on and bring to the Council.

Com. Lee:

• Said she supports the Municipal Code for two parking spaces per unit. It is hopeful and optimistic to have a lot of people bike but it will be more realistic with more drivers; right now, it's not a necessity for some people but it is more of a status; the two parking spaces per unit should be respected; everything else, the design, architectural details, the open space, the hardscape, the landscape seems sufficient. Without the two units per space she said she was unable to offer her support.

Chair Takahashi:

• Said he assumed if there was a parking problem built as proposed, since it is unbundled parking that you would structure contracts associated with this unbundled parking such that you can control the demand of the parking by the fee associated with the parking; is that the plan (that is the plan) Said to Com. Lee that the advantages of what they are proposing and charging for parking will make a difference with regard to people who are saying, should I have two cars or one car when you talk about whether or not it is \$75 per month savings that will tend to drive parking down to a level that that may fit within this analysis.

Com. Lee:

• This is a recommendation to City Council. Two spaces is good to provide that.

Aarti Shrivastava:

• The city code requires 2 spaces per unit; but it is the same whether it is the studio or 3 bedroom unit and it recognizes that and the code also says if there is a parking study that shows that project would need less parking then that could be considered. Said they will be requiring it as part of the TDM plan and they will monitor it and send annual reports to staff. It is one of the most successful ways to control parking and one of the ideas is the fewer cars they do have under the unbundled parking, the fewer cars on the street making those trips.

Vice Chair Gong:

• Said at the beginning she was of the same opinion as Com. Lee that they should maintain the two parking spots per unit; but looking at it more, realizes that there is a large percentage of studios, so a 1.8 is not a drastic drop, it accommodates the studios for her.

Chair Takahashi:

• Said the other factor that has him supporting the 1.8 ratio is while our generation loves to drive, the younger generation coming out of college, don't drive as much, and some don't own a car; as well as the trend in transportation is going to be one of more demand transportation, Uber and Lift providing more transportation. Creating parking lots is just creating open space for the future from the standpoint of what they are going to turn into. At some point we have to start planning the communities accordingly with regard to that parking. It is painful in the beginning because that transition is just starting in terms of technology and transportation but it is definitely coming and so parking requirements will need to be consistently reviewed. In this particular case overflow is very problematic because there is not a lot of places; they would have to go over to the villages, there is a little hike there, or they would have to plug up the hotels across the street. I think those are the only options. I am sure that the hotels will be very concerned if their spaces are full. The unbundled element is a critical piece of trying to control that parking. He said he supports the 1.8 ratio.

Com. Sun:

• Is it possible to make a recommendation to the City Council as Com. Lee suggested, that they are concerned about that parking, and recommend two parking spaces per unit, but in the meantime suggest to City Council that we can increase and validate the parking for the visitors as a factor to meet the 1.8 criteria. There are two options; one is that we make a recommendation based on Com. Lee's suggestion because this unit is there and no other place to park, it is very tight, if we lose this it may cause some future trouble. In the meantime, we know after the traffic research if we have some paid parking, long term parking, some short term parking, we just base it on different rate; but maybe increase some parking space for the visitors or the paid parking space and then compromise 1.8 ratio.

Chair Takahashi:

• Said he assumed that the architect has put in as much parking as possible in the available space, and if that is the case, he understood the rationale; if there were more room for parking that would be desirable for everybody; but the fact that you have all underground parking is a benefit from the standpoint of overall look and feel of the development; you don't have a large surface parking lot; given the value plan, just not really an option in terms of using your space for parking a car.

Com. Paulsen:

• Said he spent a career as an analyst and then a public health manager and in both fields they relied on data and analysis to reach their conclusions. He asked staff if they were satisfied with the analysis that has been presented so that they can make this 1.8 recommendation, and could stand on that.

Aarti Shrivastava:

• Said yes, or they wouldn't make the recommendation. She said that they have conditions of approval that require unbundled parking that would require them to manage it; there really aren't any overflow spaces; there is a lot of incentive to manage the parking, to charge more for people. Said they felt confident that it is the right number.

Chair Takahashi:

• Asked traffic engineer if there are some published benefits of unbundled parking with regard to the ratio; before it was 2:1 and they are all full and then we implemented unbundling and now there are a lot of empty spaces.

Carlene Matchniff:

Said she couldn't cite any specific research but one of the reasons unbundled parking is becoming more
prominent is the reason that people in developments are looking to reduce their parking supply which
plays on also with increasing multi modal access. If you have less parking, people are more likely to
walk or bike, but unbundled parking is definitely becoming more popular for the reason that
developments want to provide less parking and manage more efficiently because it is to the benefit of
the project itself.

Com. Paulsen:

• Said he would support staff's conclusion about 1.8; it is unfortunate that they don't have good public transit alternatives here; it is a tough choice if you need two cars and you cannot afford them, then you are really going to struggle to find an alternate means. Said he wanted to trust staff analysis, and didn't think they need to have analysis paralysis and do more analysis on it.

Com. Lee:

• Said in order to increase their parking ratio, they could decrease the number of units.

Chair Takahashi:

• Said he was well aligned with the rest of the Commission on BMR; the situation where most of our teachers commute from much further out of town because they can't afford to live here is a reality; this is the first opportunity where we have expanded our allocation and supply of housing significantly so there is an opportunity here; the city should be able to work a deal with the \$12.9 million assessment such that we can at least have some level of increase in the BMR units; as a Planning Commissioner, I would feel guilty having a discussion with somebody that needs to live here who is a teacher and approving a project that adds this many units; sorry we couldn't add any BMR units or at least we couldn't make that effort, so I feel strongly that it is a recommendation that the Planning Commission should make and I am hopeful that with the fee we have some leeway with Irvine Company that they can work that out and reduce that fee. Because a BMR in the hand is valuable and other comments associated with mixing BMR into our existing housing supply is an important element. We don't want to congregate all the BMR in this neighborhood, because it begins to question the motives. Said he agreed with the Commission; as part of the motions they can add that element.

Com. Paulsen:

• Unfortunately this puts the burden on the developer when really it is a much bigger structural problem at the federal level that we don't need to go into all the politics. It is sad that C. J. Valenzuela, Cupertino's housing expert is going to be leaving the city because he cannot afford to live here and will find a job closer to home. It is good to have public servants and others integrated into the community.

Coleen Winchester:

Offered a suggestion with respect to the BMR if that is the way the Planning Commission wants to
precede. Suggested that resolution DA-2015-01 which is the draft resolution of the City of Cupertino
recommending that the City Council approve the development agreement; be included as a part of that
recommendation, that staff pursue further negotiations with the developer to increase the affordable
housing component as part of negotiations of a development agreement. It would be the appropriate
location to include that suggestion.

MOTION: Motion by Vice Chair Gong, second by Com. Paulsen and unanimously carried 4-1-0, Com. Lee voted No; to approve Resolutions DP-2015-04, ASA-2015-13, R-2015-21, U-2015-05, (EA-2015-02) and DA-2015-01 with the addition of a recommendation to City Council that the 34 existing BMR units are extended to 38 years and to add additional BMR units in lieu of fee; staff continue negotiations with the Irvine Company as components of this particular development agreement.

OLD BUSINESS: None

NEW BUSINESS: None

REPORT OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION

Environmental Review Committee: Review of the Hamptons.

Housing Commission: No meeting.

Economic Development Committee Meeting: No meeting.

Mayor's Monthly Meeting With Commissioners:

Sustainability Commission: Commended current climate action plan city has in place.

Library Commission: Speaker Series discussing stormwater runoff and education event; looking to recommend to staff to hire full time safe routes to school individual.

Library: Library employee went to Palo Alto as Asst Librarian; Poet Laureate completed 6 poetry writing classes; 2 to be added; Library survey; New York Times available in Library with card.

Teen Commission: Preparing a booth for Cupertino Day promoting activities available for teens.

TIC Commission: Hackathon with Library.

Parks and Rec: Postponed study of Stevens Creek Corridor; Park Master Plan being revised; targeting completion for end of summer; Parks and Rec Survey online; Debating what to do with Stocklmeir House, would like to renovate for small meetings; Input on how city parks can be improved.

Bike/Ped Commission: Working on getting bicycle transportation plans; go to City Council May 21st; trying to add more bike lanes, more protected lanes; Bike to Work Day May 12.

Report of the Assistant Director of Community Development: None

ADJOURNMENT :		
• The meeting was adjou	rned to next Planning Commission meeting on May 24, 2016, 6:45 p.m.	
Respectfully Submitted:	/s/Elizabeth Ellis	
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Flizabeth Fllis Recording Secretary	

Approved as presented: June 14, 2016